Operation Life Mobile Application: Clinicians Guide

(Android)

The Clinician's Guide to the Operation Life mobile application (app) describes the purpose, features and functions of the app. It provides information and advice on how the app can help your clients and be used to effectively support treatment for those at risk of suicide.

The Guide will help you to become familiar with the app so you can help your clients setup and use the app.

Contents

Operation Life Mobile Application – Keep Calm, Stay Safe1
What is the Operation Life app?4
What is the purpose of the Operation Life app?4
Who can use the Operation Life app?4
How do I integrate Operation Life into my client's care regime?4
Before you begin
1. NEED HELP NOW
2. Personal Support Network6
3. Positive Reminders Tool6
4. Keep Calm Grounding Exercise6
5. Stay Safe7
6. Warning Signs7
7. Settings – Reminder Notification7
8. Settings – Data Collection7
USER GUIDE FOR ANDROID9
How to download the app10
End User Licence Agreement10
How to set up and personalise the app11
Welcome11
Setup - Step 1. Create Personal Support Network12
Add Contact12
Remove Contact12
Call Contact
Setup – Step 2. Create Positive Reminders13
Photo Reminder
Song Reminder14
Written Reminder
Voice Reminder16
Setup – Step 3. Reminder Notification17
Setup – Step 4. Data Collection17
Main Menu

Personal Support Network	22
Positive Reminders	23
Photo Reminder	23
Song Reminder	24
Written Reminder	25
Voice Reminder	26
Keep Calm	27
Stay Safe	29
Warning Signs	30
My Settings	31
Reminder Notification	31
Change Data Collection	31
FAQs	32

What is the Operation Life app?

Operation Life is a mobile device app for use by your client to help them deal with suicidal ideation between clinical sessions. It is free from the App Store (iOS) and Google Play (Android).

What is the purpose of the Operation Life app?

Developed by the Australian Department of Veterans' Affairs (DVA) in consultation with clinicians working with veterans, the Operation Life app provides your client with:

- easy access to emergency and professional support services;
- their personal support network;
- a grounding exercise;
- a positive reminder exercise;
- a reminder notification function to schedule regular reviews of their personal settings; and
- advice on staying safe and warning signs, including when to seek immediate help.

Who can use the Operation Life app?

The Operation Life app is designed for serving and ex-serving members of the Australian Defence Force (ADF) as an adjunct to professional treatment. It includes ADF and DVA support information.

When recommending its use, clinicians should determine, and if necessary facilitate, the client's familiarity with using health related mobile device apps. If a client is not familiar with using apps, it is important to step them through the setup process and use of the Operation Life app.

How do I integrate Operation Life into my client's care regime?

Tele-mental health technologies, such as mobile apps, offer innovative mechanisms for delivering care and mental health services.

The Operation Life app is not designed as a stand-alone product. Rather, it is a tool to supplement face-to-face treatment and to complement an individual's Safety Plan. It acts as a resource for your client to use between clinical sessions including facilitating access to support when they experience thoughts of suicide.

Most people take their mobile devices with them everywhere, so apps are a great way of providing access to information and tools 'on the go', whenever and wherever there is a need. In this way, the use of the Operation Life app offers an advantage over pencil and paper options.

The core components of the app are informed by best practice clinical interventions for at-risk behaviour. The 'Keep Calm' grounding strategy and 'Positive Reminder' cognitive strategy replicate clinical techniques that clinicians utilise with clients experiencing a major life crisis, depression, suicidal ideation or anxiety.

To maximise the apps benefits, it is important you work with your client during a clinical session to:

- help them download and set up the app, including adding personally relevant content;
- become acquainted with the various functions and tools;
- explain when to use the app and how it can effectively support their treatment; and
- monitor any problems utilising the app as part of the homework review process.

Remember – this app does not replace face-to-face or formal interventions. Rather, it is an adjunct to treatment.

Before you begin...

Clients can download the Operation Life app free to their personal mobile devices. Note, it is only available for use on iOS (Apple) and Android mobile devices.

Before setting up the app with your client, you should become familiar with the following functions and tools:

- 1. Need Help Now
- 2. Personal Support Network
- 3. Positive Reminder Tool
- 4. Keep Calm grounding exercise
- 5. Stay Safe Information
- 6. Warning Signs Information
- 7. Settings Reminder Notification Function
- 8. Settings Data Collection

A guide on how to set up these functions and tools is provided from **page 9 of this Guide** onwards.

1. NEED HELP NOW

NEED HELP NOW is always accessible and is found at the bottom of each screen.

Tapping *NEED HELP NOW* allows the client to select and call:

- 000 emergency;
- pre-set 24/7 professional support helplines which includes Australian defence and veteran resources, including
 - VVCS Veteran and Veterans Families Counselling Service;
 - Australian Defence Force All Hours Support Live;

- Lifeline Australia;
- Suicide Callback Service; and
- anyone listed in their Personal Support Network.

2. Personal Support Network

Recent research indicates almost 90% of men found support from someone they trust and respect was the most important factor in interrupting a suicide attempt (Proudfoot et al, 2014).

The *Personal Support Network* function provides an opportunity for your client to add contact details of people who they trust to contact if they need help.

The client should include contact details of those people and services identified in their individual safety plan, including key health professional(s). When discussing who clients feel safe to reach out and ask for help from, the client should consider letting people know that they have been included in the support network.

The *Personal Support Network* can be accessed from either the main menu or selecting *the Need Help Now* function.

3. Positive Reminders Tool

The *Positive Reminder* tool allows clients to record the aspects of their life that provide meaning or hope. This tool can be used by your client for mood improvement and distraction when they are feeling distressed.

The app provides easy access to a collection of photos, music or messages of support that the client has identified as useful. The most powerful reminders are those that lift mood, include positive life experiences and engage future aspirations. For example, 'I enjoy doing...', 'I am looking forward to...', 'I enjoy being with...'.

The inclusion of personalised emotionally based reminders should enhance the user's engagement with the app and encourage repeated use.

4. Keep Calm Grounding Exercise

Keep Calm is a grounding exercise for your client to use when they are feeling overwhelmed or are not sure what to do. The exercise will help distract them from negative thoughts.

Even when the client is feeling positive and well, *Keep Calm* is a useful tool to practice as it can improve their ability to deal with tough times.

5. Stay Safe

Stay Safe provides reminders for the client on how to stay connected, be healthy and maintain meaning in their life. This content can reinforce key messages and psycho-education covered in counselling sessions.

The section provides links to key information websites including:

- DVA's At Ease portal (www.at-ease.dva.gov.au) which provides access to a wide range of resources to help users recognise the symptoms of poor mental health, access self-help tools and advice, and find useful contacts and resources.
- mindhealthconnect website (www.mindhealth connect.org.au) which includes a range of mental health resources including online programs, fact sheets, audio and video, and online communities.

6. Warning Signs

The *Warning Signs* includes a list of reminders to help clients identify when to seek immediate assistance. It includes indicators of a heightened immediate risk suicide and, where needed, provides the ability for the individual to call immediate support.

7. Settings – Reminder Notification

This feature allows users to schedule a reminder to review their personal settings i.e. contacts in the *Personal Support Network* or their *Positive Reminder* messages.

The app sends a push notification to the user's mobile device with a prompt to review their 'Personal Settings'. By accepting the notification the app will automatically open to the Main Menu of the app.

You may wish to review and update these during your regular consultations.

8. Settings - Data Collection

During setup, a prompt asks if the client wishes to share anonymous data with DVA.

It is important your client is comfortable using the app, knowing that DVA is unable to identify any individual user or their phone details from the anonymous data collected.

Clients should also note that the app does not include any specific security features. Clients should turn on the security features built into their phone, such as a password or Personal Identification Number (PIN) that must be entered to unlock the device. For instructions, clients should contact the phone manufacturer or read the mobile device's manual.

DVA only collects **aggregated data**. It uses this information to better understand which parts of the app are accessed most frequently in order to improve the content over time.

By default, the data collection option is turned off so that no data is being collected. Data collection can be turned on by swiping the 'data collection' button in Settings.

Clients are able to change their Data Collection settings at any time.

References

Proudfoot, J., Christensen, H., Wilhelm, K., Hadzi-Pavlovic, D. and F. Shand. 2014. *Men's experiences with suicidal behaviour and depression*. Black Dog Institute/NHMRC Centre of Research Excellence in Suicide Prevention. Available from the Beyond Blue website at https://www.beyondblue.org.au/docs/default-source/research-project-files/bw0290_mens-experiences-with-suicidal-behaviour-and-depression---final-progress-report.pdf?sfvrsn=2.

OPERATION LIFE MOBILE APPLICATION – ANDROID GUIDE FOR CLINICIANS



USER GUIDE FOR ANDROID

The *Operation Life* mobile device application (app) aims to help serving and ex-serving members of the Australian Defence Force (ADF) deal with thoughts of suicide. It provides self-help tools, information and a contact list to help those with suicidal thoughts.

Mental health clinicians can download the app with a client and help them to set it up so that it can be ready when needed. The app can be personalised with contacts, positive reminders on what to live for and the 'Keep Calm' grounding tool.

How to download the app



The Operation Life app can be downloaded from the Google Play store. Search for "Operation Life" and look for the Operation Life icon.

End User Licence Agreement

🛱 📶 14% 🖻 5:19 pm 🛔 🖾 🖙 🖻 SETUP SETUP 9. EXTERNAL LINKS User Licence 9.1 This App may include links to third party websites. Links to other sites are provided for your convenience. The Commonwealth does not accept responsibility for the LICENCE TO USE MOBILE DEVICE accuracy or completeness of information on any third party websites. In some cases the material may incorporate or APPLICATION summarise views, standards or recommendations of third parties. Such material is assembled in good faith, but does This agreement (the Agreement) is between you and the Commonwealth of Australia as represented by the Department of Veterans' Affairs (the Commonwealth), and governs your use of the DVA 'Operation Life' mobile device application (the App). By installing and/or using the App, you not necessarily reflect the considered views of the Commonwealth, or indicate a commitment to a particular course of action. agree to the terms and conditions (the Terms) of this Agreement. Please read the Terms carefully and in full prior to 10. LAW completing the installation process and using the App. If you do not agree with the Terms please do not complete the 10.1 This Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the Australian Capital Territory. installation or use the App. 1. GENERAL USE 11. SEVERABILITY 1.1 The Commonwealth grants you a revokable, non-transferable, non-exclusive and limited licence to install and 11.1 Should any part of this Agreement be or become invalid, that part shall be severed from this Agreement. Such invalidity shall not affect the validity of the remaining use the App on your mobile device running a validly licensed copy of the operating system for which the App was provisions of the Agreement. designed, for your personal use only, and strictly in accordance with the Terms, commencing on the date that you 12. ENTIRE AGREEMENT download the App. 12.1 This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement $1.2\ The\ Commonwealth$ is not required to provide updates or new releases pursuant to this agreement. The between the parties relating to the App and everything else shall be disregarded. No addition to or modification of any Commonwealth may change add or remove any of the functionality of the App. These Terms will govern any upgrade provision of this Agreement shall be binding upon the parties unless made by written instrument signed by both parties. or supplement to the App, unless we notify you of ACCEPT (>) SCROLL DOWN TO ACCEPT

When the app is first opened the user must accept the End User License Agreement (EULA).

Once they have read and scrolled to the bottom of the agreement, the user taps the accept button.

The user only needs to accept the EULA the first time the app is opened. If the user removes the app and re-installs it, then the EULA will need to be accepted again as all settings are removed when the app is uninstalled.

How to set up and personalise the app

Welcome

Operation Life

If you're experiencing intense feelings of despair and hopelessness, or feel like you've lost control, you need to seek professional help.

This app is to help serving and ex-serving members of the Australian Defence Force deal with thoughts of suicide. It is designed to support professional treatment. Assistance from a health professional is recommended to set up the app.

The app has tools to help you keep calm, create positive reminders and advice to stay safe. Use *NEED HELP NOW* to access emergency and professional support, and your *Personal Support Network*.



Once the EULA is accepted the user is taken to the Welcome screen. This screen explains the purpose of the app.

To continue with the setup process the user taps the Next button on the top right hand corner of this screen.

The four step setup process usually takes less than 30 minutes to complete.

Setup - Step 1. Create Personal Support Network



During the setup process the user is prompted to *Create Your Personal Support Network*. The user is able to add contacts from their phone's address book. This allows quick access to people they trust for support if they are thinking of suicide.

Add Contact

To add a contact, the user taps on the *Add Contact* button and is taken their phone's contacts. Tapping on a contact will add that contact to their *Personal Support Network*. The user repeats this process to continue adding contacts to their *Personal Support Network*.

Remove Contact

To remove a contact from the *Personal Support Network*, press and hold a finger down on the contact until a pop up message appears asking whether the user would like to remove the contact from their *Personal Support Network* and then tap OK.

Note, if a user wishes to update a contact person's details, they should do this from the phone's contacts and not from within the app.

Support Network

Add people you trust and can call to help you when you need support. You can use *NEED HELP NOW* to call someone in your



The user is able to add and remove contacts for their *Personal Support Network* from the Main Menu after the setup process.

Call Contact

To call a contact the user taps on the contact's name. This will bring up the contact's details in their phone's contact list. If that person has multiple numbers, the user will need to select the number they wish to call.

To move to the next part of the app setup the user taps on the Next button on the top right hand corner of the screen.

Setup – Step 2. Create Positive Reminders 🖬 🕴 🖾 📩 🗊 📶 14% 🖄 5:20 pm SETUP NEXT **POSITIVE REMINDERS** Create My Positive Create My Positive *Reminders Reminders* Take some time to remind yourself now Take some time to remind yourself now of the good things that make your life of the good things that make your life worth living. worth living. ADD A NEW REMINDER ADD A NEW REMINDER Ų 0 0 Photo Music Text Voice Complete action using Gallerv Photos REED HELP NOW JUST ONCE **ALWAYS**

Photo Reminder

Add Photo Reminder

To add a photo to the *Positive Reminders*, tap the Photo icon. It will then bring up a selector for the user to choose which image library they would like the Photo Reminder to come from, for example Gallery or Photos. They can choose to use this image library 'Always' or 'Just Once'.

They will be taken to the image library they have chosen. From here the user taps on the image they would like to add. Tapping the image will add that image to their *Positive Reminders* screen.

Tapping on the thumbnail of the image from the *Positive Reminders* screen will bring up the whole image. Pinch the image to enlarge or shrink on the screen. Double tap to zoom in or out of the photo.

To return to their *Positive Reminders* screen the user can tap on the phone's back button or the Close button at the top right hand corner of the app.

Remove Photo Reminder

To remove an image from the *Positive Reminders*, simply tap the **X** in the top right hand corner of the thumbnail. The user will then receive a prompt to confirm if they want to remove the image from their *Positive Reminders*. This will not remove the image from the phone.



Song Reminder

Add Song Reminder

To add a song to their *Positive Reminders,* tap the Music icon. The phone will open a selector for the user to choose which song library they would like to select their music from. They can choose to use the song library 'Always' or 'Just Once'.

They will be taken to the song library they have chosen. From here, the user taps on the song they would like to add to their *Positive Reminders* screen.

Tapping on the thumbnail of the song from the *Positive Reminders* screen will take the user to a screen with song controls to play, fast forward and rewind the music track as well as change the volume.

To get back to their *Positive Reminders* screen the user can tap on the phone's back button or the Close button at the top right hand corner of the app.

Remove Song Reminder

The user can remove a song from their *Positive Reminders* by tapping the **X** in the top right hand corner of the thumbnail. They will receive a prompt to confirm if they want to remove the song from their *Positive Reminders*. If they select 'Remove', this will not remove the song from the phone.

If the user receives a phone call while listening to a song in *Positive Reminders*, the song will stop. Once they finish the phone call, the user can restart the song again. The song will also stop playing when the user exits the *Positive Reminders* section of the app or if they close the app.

Written Reminder

🎟 🖬 🕼 💭 🔀 🖻

Add Written Reminder

I ENJOY DOING I AM LOOKING FORWARD TO I ENJOY BEING WITH			
l enjoy			
it the reading >			
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 0			
qwertyuiop			
asdfghjkl			
↑ z x c v b n m 🛥			
Sym 🔅 English(US)			

ADD TEXT REMINDER

🗊 📶 87% 🖬 11:28 am

SAVE

The user can tap the Text icon to add text to their *Positive Reminders*.

They will be taken to a screen where they are able to type a positive message using the phone's keyboard. To save this message to their *Positive Reminders* screen, they need to tap the Save button at the top right hand corner of the screen.

Tapping on the thumbnail of the text from the *Positive Reminders* screen will bring up the note. The user can then read and/or edit the message. To edit the message the user taps the Edit button in the top right hand corner of the screen. They can then use the phone's keyboard pop up to edit the message.

To get back to their *Positive Reminders* screen the user can tap on the phone's back button.

Remove Written Reminder

The user can remove the note from their *Positive Reminders* by tapping the **X** in the top right hand corner of the thumbnail. They will then be prompted to confirm if they want to remove the note from their *Positive Reminders*.

Voice Reminder



Add Voice Reminder

The user can tap the Voice icon to add a voice recording to their *Positive Reminders*.

Users will be taken to a screen where they can voice record the good things that make their life worth living. They are able to record a maximum 3 minute audio clip by tapping on the Record button to start recording and then the Stop button to stop the recording. They are then able to review this recording by tapping on the Preview button. If not happy with the voice recording, they can remove it by tapping the Clear button and starting the process again. They can save the recording to their *Positive Reminders* screen by tapping on the Save button at the top right hand corner of the screen.

Listen to Voice Reminder

Tapping on the thumbnail of the voice recording from the *Positive Reminders* screen will bring up a playback screen for the user to listen to the Voice Reminder.

To get back to their *Positive Reminders* screen, the user can tap on the phone's back button.

Remove Voice Reminder

The user can remove the voice recording from their *Positive Reminders* by tapping the **X** in the top right hand corner of the thumbnail. They will then be prompted to confirm if they want to remove the voice recording from their *Positive Reminders*.

The user is able to add and remove positive reminders in their *Positive Reminders* from the Main Menu after the setup process.

To move to the next part of the app setup, the user taps on the Next button on the top right hand corner of the screen.

Setup - Step 3. Reminder Notification



The user is prompted to set their phone schedule to remind them to update their Personal Settings. The phone will notify the user via a pop-up notification.

When the user receives the pop-up notification, tapping on this notification will open the app to the main menu.

These notifications can be set to be weekly (7 days), 1 monthly (30 days), 2 monthly (60 days), 3 monthly (90 days) or never.

To move to the next part of the app setup, the user taps on the Next button on the top right hand corner of the screen.

The user is able to change their reminders from the My Settings section of the app once they have finished the setup process.

Setup - Step 4. Data Collection



In the final step in the Setup process, the user is asked to select whether they want their data collected. The default selection is OFF, meaning no data is collected. If they are happy for their data to be collected, they can swipe the Data Collection slider to ON.

The data is anonymous and collected as an aggregate. It is not able to identify the user or their mobile device in any way.

The data collected will be used by DVA to see what sections of the app are most used, average duration of app usage and so on. This information is used by DVA to improve the app in the future.

To finish the setup the user taps the Save button in the top right hand corner of the screen.

The user is able to change the Data Collection selection from the My Settings section of the app once they have finished the Setup process.

The app set-up is now completed.

Main Menu



Once the user has completed the setup process, they will arrive at the main menu. This home screen will be the first screen the user sees when they open the app on subsequent visits.

Users can select any sections that they have previously setup during the initial setup of the app. Other features on the home page include the Keep Calm tool, Stay Safe information, Warning Signs and Frequently Asked Questions.

Need Help Now

🖬 🖡 🖻 🛛 🛱 🗐 🖬 🧯 🗐 🗐	🖬 🕼 🗅 🖬 🙋 🔹 🎧 📶 91% 🖄 12:01 pm
	NEED HELP NOW CLOSE
OPERATION Life	FOR ANY CRISIS
Keep Calm, Stay Safe	000 Emergency
MY PERSONAL SUPPORT NETWORK	PROFESSIONAL SUPPORT VIEW PROFESSIONAL SUPPORT
MY POSITIVE REMINDERS	MY PERSONAL SUPPORT NETWORK
KEEP CALM	Best Friend
STAY SAFE	
WARNING SIGNS	Joan C
	John C
MY SETTINGS	Psychiatrist
NEED HELP NOW	

There is a consistent red button at the bottom of the app. Tapping on the red Need Help Now button will bring up a screen with contact details for immediate support.

Need Help Now > 000 and Professional Support Helplines

The first number is Australia's emergency number 000 (triple zero).

Tap the Professional Support Helplines button to bring up the contact details for specific Defence and Suicide crisis lines that are available 24/7.

Tapping on any of the Professional Support Helplines or the 000 Emergency number will prompt the user to dial the number.

Need Help Now > My Personal Support Network

If personal support contacts have been added to the *Personal Support Network* the user will be able to tap the My Personal Support Network button to display the names of these contacts.

Tapping on a contact in the *Personal Support Network* will open the selected person's details in the phone's contact list. If that person has multiple numbers, the user will need to select the number they wish to call.

Personal Support Network



Tapping on the *My Personal Support Network* button from the main menu will take the user to their Personal Support Network. This will show the names of contacts that the user has previously added. If there are no contacts added previously, only the *Add Contact* button will appear.

Add Contact

To add a contact, the user taps on the *Add Contact* button and is taken their phone's contacts. Tapping on a contact will add that contact to their *Personal Support Network*. The user repeats this process to continue adding contacts to their *Personal Support Network*.

Remove Contact

To remove a contact from their *Personal Support Network* the user holds a finger down on the contact until the phone's pop up message appears asking whether the user would like to remove the contact from their *Personal Support Network.* Tap Cancel or Remove.

Note, if a user wishes to update a contact person's details, they should do this from the phone's contacts and not from within the app.

Support Network

Add people you trust and can call to help you when you need support. You can use NEED HELP NOW to call someone in your



Call Contact

To call a contact the user taps on the contact's name. This will open the contact person's details in their phone's contact list. If that person has multiple numbers, the user will need to select the number they wish to call. To return to the Main Menu, the user should select the Close button in the top right corner of the screen.

Page | 22

Positive Reminders



Tapping on the *My Positive Reminders* button from the main menu will take the user to their Positive Reminders. This will show the reminders that the user has already added.

Photo Reminder

Add Photo Reminder

Users can add a photo to their *Positive Reminders* by tapping the Photo icon. On the user's phone it will then bring up a selector for the user to choose which image library app they would like to choose the Photo Reminder from. They can choose to use this image library app 'Always' or 'Just Once'.

They will be taken to the image library they have chosen. From here the user taps on the image they would like to add. Tapping the image will add that image to their *Positive Reminders* screen.

Tapping on the thumbnail of the image from the *Positive Reminders* screen will bring up the whole image. Pinch the image to enlarge or shrink on the screen. Double tap to zoom in or out of the photo.

To return to their *Positive Reminders* screen the user can tap on the phones back button or the Close button at the top right hand corner of the app.

Remove Photo

To remove the image from their *Positive Reminders* simply tap the **X** in the top right hand corner of the thumbnail. The user will receive a prompt to confirm if they want to remove the image from their *Positive Reminders*. This will not remove the image from the phone.

Song Reminder

Add Song Reminder

For the user to add a song to their *Positive Reminders* they tap the Music icon.

The phone will open a selector for the user to choose which song library they would like to select their music from. They can choose to use the song library 'Always' or 'Just Once'.

They will be taken to the song library they have chosen. From here, the user taps on the song they would like to add to their *Positive Reminders* screen. Tapping the song will add that song to their *Positive Reminders* screen.

Listen to Song

Tapping on the thumbnail of the song from the *Positive Reminders* screen will take the user to a screen with song controls to play, fast forward and rewind the track as well as change the volume.

To get back to their *Positive Reminders* screen the user can tap on the phones back button or the close button at the top right hand corner of the app.

Remove Song Reminder

The user can remove a song from their *Positive Reminders* by tapping the **X** in the top right hand corner of the thumbnail. They will receive a prompt to confirm if they want to remove the song from their *Positive Reminders*. If they select 'Remove', this will not remove the song from the phone.

If the user receives a phone call while listening to a song in *Positive Reminders*, the song will stop. Once they finish the phone call, they will be able to restart the song.

The song will also stop playing when the user exits the *Positive Reminders* section of the app or if they close the app.

Written Reminder



Add Written Reminder

The user can tap the Text icon to add text to their *Positive Reminders*.

They will be taken to a screen where they are able to type a positive message using the phone's keyboard. To save this message to their *Positive Reminders* screen, tap the Save button at the top right hand corner of the screen.

Edit Written Reminder

Tapping on the thumbnail of the text from the *Positive Reminders* screen will bring up the message. The user can then read and/or edit the message. To edit the message the user taps the Edit button in the top right hand corner of the screen, the phone's keyboard pop up to edit the message.

To get back to the *Positive Reminders* screen the user must tap on the phone's back button.

Remove Written Reminder

The user can remove the message from their *Positive Reminders* by tapping the **X** in the top right hand corner of the thumbnail. They will then be prompted to confirm if they want to remove the message from their *Positive Reminders*.

Voice Reminder



Add Voice Reminder

The user can tap the Voice icon to add a voice recording to their *Positive Reminders*.

Users will be taken to a screen where they can voice record the good things that make their life worth living. They are able to record a maximum 3 minute audio clip by tapping the Record button to start recording and then the Stop button to stop the recording. They are then able to review this recording by tapping on the Preview button. If not happy with the voice recording, they can remove it by tapping the Clear button and starting the process again. They can save the recording to their *Positive Reminders* screen by tapping on the Save button at the top right hand corner of the screen.

Listen to Voice Reminder

Tapping on the thumbnail of the voice recording from the *Positive Reminders* screen will bring up a playback screen for the user to listen to the Voice Reminder.

To get back to the *Positive Reminders* screen, the user can tap on the phone's back button.

Remove Voice Reminder

The user can remove the voice recording from their *Positive Reminders* by tapping the **X** in the top right hand corner of the thumbnail. They will then be prompted to confirm if they want to remove the voice recording from their *Positive Reminders*.

Keep Calm



Select the Keep Calm button from the main menu to access the Keep Calm tool.

The accompanying audio will guide the user through three sections (See, Hear and Touch) to help them calm down and get back in control of their thoughts.

The user listens to the instructions by tapping the play button. They are able to pause the instructions by tapping the pause button at any time.

The user is able to choose between a female and male voice and is also able to mute the playback by tapping the appropriate icon in the sound menu on the right. To bring this menu up the user taps on the speaker icon. To hide the sound menu the user can tap anywhere on the screen away from any of the other buttons.

The user taps the Next button in the top right hand corner of the screen to move forward to each section and can go back to a previous activity by tapping the back button on their phone.

🖬 🕼 🗔 🛤 🙋 🛛 🛱 🕼 91% 🖬 12:07 pm

Keep Calm > Next Steps

KEEP CALM

Next Steps

With practice, this exercise can help calm you so you're in a better position to speak with someone about what you're experiencing.

I'm OK return to Main Menu	\bigcirc
I want to do the tool again	\diamond
I want to talk to my Personal Support Network	\diamond

The final screen of the *Keep Calm* tool has three options for the user, *I'm OK return to Main Menu* which takes the user back to the main menu. *I want to do the tool again* which takes the user back to the start of the Keep Calm tool. The last option is *I want to talk to my Personal Support Network* which opens the Need Help Now screen.

A NEED HELP NOW

Stay Safe



Tapping on the Stay Safe button on the main menu takes the user to a screen with useful information and links to help the user look after their mental health.

To get back to the main menu the user can tap the phone's back button or tap the Close button on the top right hand corner of the screen.

Warning Signs

		Σ	F ®	Ĉ		h. 🛱	14% 🖄	5:22 pm
				WAR	NING	SIGN	S	CLOSE
EMERGENCY WARNING SIGNS								

Use NEED HELP NOW if your suicidal thoughts get worse and you experience the following warning signs:

- I am hearing voices or seeing visions telling me to harm or kill myself
- I feel a sense of relief knowing that I will soon be dead
- I see no future
- I have written a suicide note
- Thave written a suicide note
 Thave given away my possessions
- I have said goodbye to the people in my life
- I have the means to kill myself
- I think everyone would be better off without me

NEED HELP NOW

Tapping on the Warning Signs button on the main menu takes the user to a screen with useful information on emergency warning signs that their mental health maybe deteriorating.

To get back to the main menu the user can tap the phone's back button or tap the Close button on the top right hand corner of the screen.

My Settings



Tapping on the My Settings button on the main menu takes the user to a screen where they are able to update their Reminder Notifications and Data Collection settings.

Reminder Notification

Tapping the Reminder Notification button takes the user to a page where they set the duration between reminders. These can be set to be weekly, 1 monthly, 2 monthly, 3 monthly or never. The user selects one of these options and then taps the Save button at the top right hand corner of the screen. This will take the user back to the My Settings page.

🖃 🕼 💭 🖾 👛 🛛 🛱 🔐 92% 🛿 12:09 pm

MY SETTINGS

SAVE

Data Collection

Please help us keep improving this app by sharing anonymous data with us.

The data does not identify you in any way.

Data collected may include:

- Number of screen views per visit
- Average visit duration
- Which section of the app is used most frequently
- The type of device and operating system used

DATA COLLECTION

Change Data Collection

Tapping the Data Collection button takes the user to the page where they can change the opt out/in status for the apps data collection. If the user changes the opt out/in status they will need to tap the Save button in the top right hand corner of this screen, which will return them back to the My Settings page. Alternatively, if the user doesn't want to change their current status they can tap the phone's Back button to take them back to the My Settings menu.

To get back to the main menu the user can tap the phone's Back button or tap the Close button on the top right hand corner of the screen.

FAQs

(⊑ 🖡 🖻 🖙 🗊 🛱 🧊 🖬 🛱	5:22 pm
	FAQs	DONE
	WHAT IS THE PURPOSE OF THIS APP?	\bigcirc
	WHERE CAN I GO FOR MORE HELP?	\odot
	I AM WORRIED SOMEONE I CARE ABOUT MIGHT BE HAVING SUICIDAL THOUGHTS. WHERE CAN I GO TO LEARN MORE?	\odot
	WHO SHOULD I INCLUDE IN MY PERSONAL SUPPORT NETWORK?	\odot
	HOW DO I CHANGE MY PERSONAL SUPPORT NETWORK?	\odot
	WHAT IS THE KEEP CALM TOOL?	\odot
	WHAT IS THE POSITIVE REMINDER TOOL?	\odot
		\frown
	A NEED HELP NOW	1

Tapping on the FAQs button on the main menu takes the user to a screen where they are able to read the frequently asked questions.

The user is presented with a list of questions. Once the user taps the down arrow button, the answer will expand.

Tapping that same button will close the answer.

Tapping another question, while the user already has an answer expanded, will close the current answer and expand the answer for the question that the user tapped.

To get back to the main menu the user can tap the phone's Back button or the Done button on the top left of the screen.